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Chronology
1908
QMC Purchased Franklin and 
Pontiac Mining companies.

QMC Partially reconstructed 
shaft/rockhouses No. 6, 7 and 8 
using steel frame construction.
 
The American Bridge Company 
completely rebuilt No. 2 shaft-
rockhouse using steel frame 
construction.

QMC began construction of No. 9. 

1909
QMC abandoned No. 4 shafthouse 
and demolished its rockhouse.

1910
QMC acquired 800 acres to the 
west to extend shafts 2,6,8, and 9.  
1913
No. 4 shafthouse was demolished, 
No. 7 and No. 9 were closed.

1917
QMC built 50 houses in Frenchtown 
and Sing-Sing locations, as well as 
behind the assay office, east of 
Hardscrabble, Limerick, Mesnard 
and Lower Pewabic.

QMC began construction of new 
hoist and hoisthouse at No. 2 shaft, 
and ordered the largest steam hoist 
in the world.

1919
QMC purchased 140 acres in 
Section 22 from the Hancock 
Consolidated Mining Company for 
additional ground to be worked from 
No. 2 and No. 7.

QMC closed No. 7.

1920
QMC completed construction of new 
hoist and hoisthouse at No. 2 
shafthose.

1921
113 vacant homes on Quincy Hill.

1922
QMC closed No. 8.

1927
Quincy Schoolhouse burnt down.

1928
QMC re-opened No. 8.

1929-1931
Copper market collapsed.
  
1931 
QMC closed operations.

1935
183 homes vacant on Quincy HIll.

1937
No. 6 and No. 8 reopened.

1942-1943
QMC constructed and opened 
reclamation plant.

1945
Quincy Mine permanently closed. 
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Note                             
When overlaying the existing conditions over the HAER historic maps, the city of Hancock 
does not align with other areas in the Quincy Unit.  Adjustments were made to correct this 
difference.  The period of change maps are for analysis purposes only.
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SCALE:

“Map of Quincy Mine and Vicinity, Houghton County Michigan,” date unknown (ca. early 1900s).
(shows ownership parcels)
Durward W. Potter Jr., “Quincy Mine Locations, Housing and Community Structures, C. 1920,” 
HAER Heritage, Conservation and Recreation Service, 1978.
“Plan of the Underdground Workings of Quincy Mine and a Portion of Surface Detail,” date 
unknown ca. 1900-1907.
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Reclamation: 1946‐1967  
Although Quincy was finished with underground mining, reclamation operations continued.  
Reclamation was a less expensive operation than mining, and it yielded large amounts of cast 
copper.411  Subsequently, Quincy was able to repay its Metals Reserve Company loan in the 
form of copper and profits by 1947, far ahead of schedule.412 
 
Quincy’s previous mining and milling efforts had deposited an enormous volume of waste rock 
material in Torch Lake over a fifty year period.  This had a great impact on Torch Lake.  In fact, 
some residents estimate that the lake’s volume was reduced by as much as thirty percent from 
the fill material.413  These actions changed the shoreline and its associated upland and aquatic 
habitats.  The reclamation process continued to sculpt the shoreline.  The operation relied upon 
a floating dredge that vacuumed tailings from the lake, which passed them through a long 
floating pipe to the reclamation plant on shore.  At the plant, the tailings were processed and 
copper was retrieved.  Finally, the mineral was transported to the smelter by truck where the 
copper was cast into ingots. 
 
In June 1948, Quincy re-opened the Quincy Smelting Works, which had been dormant since 
1931.  C&H had been providing Quincy with smelting services during the lean operating years, 
but the success of the reclamation project meant that C&H was no longer able to meet Quincy’s 
needs.  Quincy operated the reclamation plant and smelter until May of 1967.  Work stopped 
briefly when their dredge was lost to a January storm in 1956, and again for a ten-month 
shutdown in 1958.  Another dredge, purchased previously from C&H, was able to assume its 
duties until the end of the operation.414 
 
As the company focused its attention on reclamation, a diverse group interested in preserving 
the legacy of Quincy’s mining operations on the Hill formed.  The Quincy Mine Hoist 
Association, with leadership from Quincy’s Board of Directors, Cleveland Cliffs, Michigan 
Technological University and local business leaders, was founded as a non-profit organization 
in 1958 , and received 501c3 status in May of 1961. This group was narrowly focused on 
preserving the No. 2 Nordberg steam hoist. Over time, the idea to preserve a much larger 
industrial site would grow. 
 

                                                      
411 Lankton, Cradle to Grave, 259. 
412 Lankton and Hyde, Old Reliable, 144. 
413 Local observations are in the ballpark of the Environmental Protection Agency’s estimate. According 
to the EPA, 200 million tons of copper ore tailings were deposited in Torch Lake, displacing about 20 
percent of the lake’s original volume. See www.epa.gov/glnpo/aoc/trchlke.htrml, accessed April 16, 
2007.  
414 Lankton and Hyde, Old Reliable, 144. 
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Figure 2- 55:  Drawing (QD-0084) produced by Quincy Mining Company to depict areas and volumes 
of stamp mill sands affected by their reclamation efforts.  (source: Image courtesy of Michigan 
Technological University Archives & Copper Country Historical Collections) 
 

Post‐Operation: 1968 – Present 
Quincy remained closed until 1976, when it financed a joint venture with Homestake 
International as a partner.  Quincy provided working capital for three main efforts: to erect a 
new hoist and headframe at No. 8; clear the shaft twenty levels deep; and provide exploratory 
diamond drilling in pursuit of copper deposits.  Concurrently Michigan Technological 
University conducted diesel fuel emissions testing underground and trained students in rock 
dynamics, drilling, explosives and rock removal with heavy equipment in the east adit, at the 
south end of the Pewabic lode.416  MTU’s Mining Engineering program led to the expansion of 
the adit from a 3 by 5 foot passage to a 15 by 15 foot tunnel.  Since 1992, MTU has maintained a 
limited access agreement with the Quincy Mine Hoist Association for infrequent use as a 
learning environment.  Although the partnership with Homestake did not create a new mining 
venture, it demonstrated the difficulty that people had in accepting the extensive changes 
imposed upon their lifeways and heritage.   
 
The resolve to rekindle a bygone industry was strong, but it was not enough to withstand 
economic forces.  Many industrial structures and machines that were once integral parts of the 

                                                      
416 Ibid.,147. 
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Quincy landscape were sold for scrap.  Partial buildings, ruins and fragments of a bygone 
industry dot a landscape that nature has tried to reclaim through weather and the establishment 
of volunteer vegetation.  Corporate actions to dismantle what Quincy had worked so diligently 
to achieve were resented by some;  their efforts refocused on new goals aimed at correcting 
environmental damage and developing a strong heritage tourism industry for the area.  In 1978 
the Historic American Engineering Record (HAER) undertook a study to document what 
remained from the Quincy Mining Company.  HAER staff conducted research, took 
photographs, and carefully measured structures and ruins to record and document the 
remaining Quincy mine properties.  Their work remains as an important reference.  In 1984 the 
Quincy No. 2 mine hoist, owned and preserved by Quincy Mine Hoist Association, was 
recognized as a National Historical Mechanical Engineering Landmark. 
 

 
Figure 2- 56:  A 1978 photo by Jet Lowe shows the No. 7 hoist house ruin constructed of locally 
quarried Jacobsville sandstone.  Prized for its appearance and value as a local construction material, 
this structure is among many that have disappeared from the Quincy landscape.  (source: Image 2-63 
courtesy of HAER) 
 
In 1986, parts of the former Quincy Mining Company property were placed on the National 
Priorities List by the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA), creating the Torch Lake 
Area Superfund Site.  Areas near the former mills, reclamation plant and smelter site, in 
addition to several other sites on the Keweenaw Peninsula, were determined to pose an 
environmental threat.  This was largely due to the presence of high metal concentrations found 
within the stamp sands and byproducts present at both the mill and smelter complex.  Exposure 
to wind and water provided erosive forces capable of moving the materials into the adjacent 
water bodies and damaging their benthic layer.  By 1988, the EPA began investigation and 
remediation activities at Torch Lake, including in the tailings area known as the Mason Sands.  
In 1992, the EPA issued a Record of Decision to address the remediation of the Torch Lake Area 
Superfund Site.  The remedy required covering several sites with soil and vegetation and long-
term monitoring of mitigated areas.  Remediation of the mill site sands involved grading and 
covering the 225-acre Mason sands site.   
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Figure 2- 57:  Diagram indicating the Torch Lake Area of Concern.  (source: courtesy of EPA website: 
http://www.epa.gov/glnpo/aoc/trchlke.html) 
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Figure 2- 58:  Mason Sands Area before remediation. (source: courtesy of EPA 
http://www.epa.gov/glnpo/aoc/trchlke.html) 
 

 
Figure 2- 59 Mason Sands Area after EPA remediation. (source: courtesy of EPA 
http://www.epa.gov/glnpo/aoc/trchlke.html) 
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The Quincy Smelting Works remained undisturbed until 2004.  That year, the EPA removed 
abandoned laboratory chemicals from inside smelter buildings and performed asbestos testing, 
followed by limited asbestos abatement.  An eight-foot high chain link fence was built around 
the core smelter buildings.  The EPA also installed a geotextile fabric and rip-rap to stabilize the 
shoreline at the smelter.  Additionally, they installed culverts beneath the former railroad grade 
to re-direct storm water away from the site and to improve site drainage.  Michigan’s 
Department of Natural Resources subsequently capped the former railroad grade, presently 
used as a snowmobile recreation trail, with a gravel surface to contain any metals or asbestos 
and prevent public exposure to these substances. 
 

 
Figure 2- 60:  Fence and sign at Quincy Smelter, 2007.  (source: Image courtesy of NPS) 
  
In 2008, the EPA abated the remainder of asbestos from within the built complex. In 2009, as a 
result of concerns raised by the Michigan Department of Environmental Quality (DEQ), the 
EPA took steps to amend the Record of Decision (ROD) to propose capping contaminated 
stamp soils outside the fence, except for two slag piles, but preserving the existing stamp sand 
surface inside the fence in anticipation of use of the site for historic interpretation purposes. 
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Figure 2- 61:  Rock armoring / rip-rap placed along shoreline as part of EPA and MDNR remediation 
work, 2007.  (source: Image courtesy of NPS) 
  
 

 
Figure 2- 62:  Gravel placed over the former railroad grade as part of EPA and MDNR remediation 
work, 2007.  (source: Image courtesy of NPS) 
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As environmental issues related to mining were identified and remediation options evaluated, 
the cultural values associated with this industry were also being identified and examined.  In 
1989, the National Park Service established two National Historic Landmark (NHL) districts in 
the Keweenaw.  One of them, the Quincy Mining Company National Historic Landmark 
District, encompasses the rich mining landscape and workers' housing areas found on Quincy 
Hill, and extends down the hillside to include the Quincy Smelting Works.  The second NHL 
district was centered on Calumet and Hecla’s industrial core and the Village of Calumet’s civic 
presence that grew as a direct result of the copper mining industry. 
 
In 1992 a new and unique national park was established.  Keweenaw National Historical Park 
encompasses landscapes that offer distinct geology and abundant natural resources 
interconnected with the people who lived there, past and present.  The area’s copper mining 
heritage was seen and understood not through any one place, but through an array of historic 
landscapes, buildings and ruins – all of them associated with the culture found there today.  The 
heritage tourism industry in the Keweenaw evolved as a grassroots community effort, and was 
literally built on the grounds and foundations that remain from the copper mining industry it 
honors.  The park’s enabling legislation reflects this community involvement by promoting 
partnerships, limiting federal ownership, and establishing a permanent park advisory 
commission. 
 
Since the park was founded the Quincy Mine Hoist Association (QMHA) has expanded their 
mission beyond the No. 2 Nordberg steam hoist to include the mine, the landscape and artifacts;  
other actions have occurred to facilitate the interpretation of historic mining activities.  In 1996 
the QMHA installed a cog rail tram to transport visitors between the No.2 hoist house and the 
side hill adit.  At the adit entrance visitors can enter the mine for an interpreted tour to 
experience the historic mine environment.   
 
The QMHA sold the Blacksmith Shop and Machine Shop property on Quincy Hill to Michigan 
Technological University to serve as the new home to the A.E. Seaman Mineral Museum.  
The development of the Museum property provides new opportunities for cooperation between 
the Quincy Mine Hoist Association, A.E. Seaman Mineral Museum, and National Park Service.   
 
Passing time and a lack of maintenance have reshaped the Quincy Mining Company landscape 
since the mine was operational.  All but one of the many shaft-rockhouses, once visible for miles 
on the horizon, have been scrapped - torn down for the value of their steel.  The capping of 
mine shafts to address public safety has consequently left many indistinguishable from the 
surrounding terrain.  As the structural integrity of the extant smokestacks decline, they become 
expensive maintenance dilemmas and safety hazards.  One smokestack at the Quincy Smelting 
Works was removed in 2008 when it was determined hazardous.  The smokestack between the 
No. 2 Hoist Houses and the No. 5 Boiler Plant was also evaluated and removed. Weathered 
industrial buildings, crumbling masonry ruins, and rotting timber continue to erode beneath 
the immense weight of heavy annual snowfalls.  Unsecured structures sometimes meet 
alternative fates, including fire and vandalism.  Broken windows and decayed building shells 
are a common sight.  Historic company housing locations, where they remain, are often a 
fragment of their former selves.  Monumental poor rock piles that once dotted the land have 
been consumed, the rock crushed for use in construction activities elsewhere in the region.  
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Figure 2- 63:  The remains of an historic rock pile are juxtaposed against a pile of crushed gravel. 
(source: Image courtesy of NPS) 
     
 
 

 
Figure 2- 64:  Smokestacks and ruins near the No. 6 dry are engulfed in volunteer vegetation. (source: 
Images are courtesy of the NPS) 
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New ventures continue to alter Quincy Hill.  Former company homes are freely modified to 
meet the changing needs of today’s occupants.  Modern ranch homes, signs, and billboards 
located along U.S. 41 now represent new commercial endeavors while new roads bisect former 
housing locations.  Quincy has been marked by modern industry as well, as communication 
towers blink into the night from strategic points on the hilltop.  Volunteer vegetation now 
grows on once-barren mining lands, where it hides views, buildings, ruins, and landscape 
features.  Foundation walls sometimes find roots deeply seated within cracks in their masonry.  
 

 
Figure 2- 65:  Billboards and signs along U.S. 41 compete for the attention of visitors, 2007. (source: 
Image courtesy of NPS) 
    
 

 
Figure 2- 66:  The historic view of the  No. 2 hoist houses and beyond is obscured by volunteer woody 
vegetation , 2007. (source: Image courtesy of NPS) 
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At the same time that vegetation obscures the signs of industry, it also provides clues to 
settlement patterns and building locations.  In many places, apple trees, lilacs and lilies indicate 
the location of orchards and yards.  They lead the eye toward ruins and small-scale features, 
like fences and paths.  Like tributaries, these features can be traced back to their source, often 
company-built roads and houses still in use.  These subtle features offer glimpses of an earlier 
time, despite the layers of vernacular additions that have been made to both the landscape and 
its structures.  Although time and neglect have taken their toll, much of Quincy is still visible on 
the landscape today.  What remains is the most complete mining company landscape on the 
Keweenaw Peninsula.  
 

 
Figure 2- 67:  A poor rock house foundation in Lower Pewabic is marked by an apple tree in the 
foreground.  The stacks in the background once served Quincy’s boilerhouses. (source: Image courtesy 
of the NPS) 
 
Copper mining, milling, and smelting were once the driving forces behind landscape change in 
the Keweenaw.  Several hundred companies left their mark on the Keweenaw Peninsula, and 
they represent an important part of our nation’s past.  The Quincy Mining Company 
contributed greatly to this history.  Part of their industrial landscape is now a National Historic 
Landmark District, which recognizes its national significance.  The Quincy Unit of Keweenaw 
National Historical Park includes this exceptional property, and the park is charged with 
preserving and interpreting it.  This provides a new opportunity for people whose lives were 
shaped and influenced by the Quincy Mining Company to honor their rich heritage and share 
their stories with the world. 




